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FAIR CREDIT REPORTING ACT

Credit reporting firm defeats man’s suit  
over debt status
An Arizona federal judge has tossed a lawsuit alleging Experian Information  
Solutions Inc. violated the Fair Credit Reporting Act by reporting his mortgage debt 
as having settled for less than the balance due.

Keller v. Trans Union LLC et al., No. 15-cv-1318, 
2017 WL 25289 (D. Ariz. Jan. 3, 2017).

Because Experian accurately reported that the 
full balance on plaintiff Kyle Keller’s debt had not 
been satisfied, the credit reporting agency was 
entitled to summary judgment on Keller’s FCRA 
claims, U.S. District Judge John J. Tuchi of the 
District of Arizona ruled. 

Although Keller’s mortgage lender, nonparty 
GMAC Mortgage, agreed his $5,293 payment 
would satisfy his $64,000 mortgage debt in full, 
the terms of the settlement did not act as bar on 
Experian’s reporting of the delinquent payments 
and the settlement itself, the judge wrote.

MORTGAGE CANCELLATION PAYMENT

According to the opinion, Keller became 
delinquent on his mortgage in January 2009. 
GMAC offered to accept $5,293 as full and final 
satisfaction of the account and cancel his note, it 
said. 

Keller agreed to the offer and made the payment 
in August 2009.

Experian’s credit report on Keller listed the 
mortgage as being settled for less than the 
balance owed. In April 2015 Keller asked the 
company to remove this notation and report the 
account as being satisfied in full, the opinion said.

Experian conducted an investigation that  
verified that the mortgage account was paid in 
full for less than the balance owed, the opinion 
said. 
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EXPERT ANALYSIS

How strong bank customer loyalty could be a sign of weakness, 
not strength
By Sue Hines 
Informa Research Services

It’s one of the first lessons you learn in 
business school: Loyal customers are the 
best customers. They love your brand, 
wouldn’t dream of switching banks and have 
been with you for years. Focus on loyalty and 
you’re sure to beat the competition, right? 
Wrong.

Loyalty isn’t all it’s cracked up to be. While 
there is inarguably a benefit to having 
existing customers evangelize about your 
brand, particularly in a social media world, 
loyalty as a single measure isn’t as valuable 
as it once was. 

In fact, rather than a sign of strength and 
a predictor of growth for your bank, strong 
loyalty scores are increasingly becoming a 
sign of underlying problems.

First, it’s important to look at loyalty for what 
it is: a metric that sounds like it evaluates 
customer happiness but really measures 
customer willingness to leave for another 
brand. “Loyal” customers can be the kind 
you really want — the ones who recommend 
your bank to friends, often post on social 
media about their experiences, and go to 
your bank to buy more products and services. 
But loyalty can just as easily be a measure of 
apathy. 

Think about it: When a customer says he is 
loyal, the assumption is that he’s perfectly 
satisfied with his service. But sometimes 
a customer just isn’t interested in making 
a move. It’s the law of inertia. Someone 
might want to switch to another brand, but 

In fact, research shows that loyalty weakens 
consistently from older to younger customers. 
Data from Informa Research Service’s 
SEA Score, which measures member and 
customer engagement, show that customers 
over 55 years of age — the baby boomers — 
are 37 percent more likely than millennials to 
be loyal to their financial institutions. Stated 
another way , millennials are 63 percent less 
loyal than baby boomers.

Given this information, high loyalty may be 
an indication of an aging customer base. 
While those customers are stable, they are 
often not growth customers — and they 
certainly are not ones who will be seeking 
new business loans, buying a vacation home 
or increasing deposits for saving. 

For younger customers, loyalty doesn’t 
matter. They want competitive rates, a 
strong online experience, convenience and 
execution. The idea of loyalty is foreign to 
them, so any focus you put on loyalty in 
marketing to these high-growth customers 
is misplaced. Most metrics that banks use to 
gauge customer satisfaction and loyalty were 
developed before millennial customers were 
old enough to collect an allowance.

Loyal customers could also be costing your 
bank money. Banks frequently extend special 
offers to existing customers, hoping that 
discounts lead to retention and give people 
a warm feeling about their brand. 

But that approach doesn’t make sense. 
Why should you have to discount products 
or services for customers you already have? 

Sue Hines is head of customer engagement at Calabasas, California-
based Informa Research Services, a provider of customer/member 
engagement and loyalty studies, competitive product rate and fee 
intelligence, and delivery channel experience measurements to the 
financial services industry. She has over 30 years of experience in 
consulting and brand measurement. She can be reached at shines@
informars.com.

canceling an account, transferring assets and 
buying completely new products is just more 
trouble than it’s worth. Some customers 
might characterize an unwillingness to move 
as loyalty. 

Customers who are disinclined to switch due 
to inertia aren’t likely to be energized to do 
more business with your bank. Any marketing 
outreach to this kind of “loyal” customer will 
likely be a waste of resources. 

What’s more, you won’t be able to use their 
experiences to craft marketing plans to 
attract new customers. Yet these same “loyal” 
customers are the ones highlighted by many 
current customer-satisfaction surveys.

The truth is that customers who say they’re 
loyal might still jump ship. After all, loyalty 
doesn’t count until it’s tested, and most 
“loyal” customers fail the test. Even those 
who say they are happy with your services will 
leave if a better offer comes along. 

Research shows that 75 percent of customers 
who defect to another company say they were 
“satisfied or completely satisfied” with the 
bank’s business when they made the switch. 

There’s also a loyalty gap between 
generations. Customer loyalty is higher with 
older generations than, say, millennials. 

Strong loyalty scores are 
increasingly becoming a 

sign of underlying problems.
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If they’re truly “loyal,” wouldn’t customers 
pay full price? The loss of profit margin 
for existing customers makes it harder 
to manage margins on discounts for the 
customers you want to attract.

In fact, given the way people interact with 
banks online today, loyalty-based programs 
could even lead to the loss of customers. 

Loyalty is just a single  
data point and it has  
lost its usefulness for 
banking executives.

Debt reporting
CONTINUED FROM PAGE 1

Keller sued the company and credit reporting 
agencies Trans Union LLC and Equifax 
Information Services LLC in July 2015, 
alleging they violated the FCRA violations, 
15 U.S.C.A. §  1681, which requires credit 
reporting agencies to take reasonable steps 
to ensure consumer debt information is 
accurate.

Trans Union and Equifax settled with Keller, 
the opinion said.

ACCURACY IN QUESTION

Experian moved for summary judgment, 
arguing it did not violate the FCRA because 
the report was accurate. The defendant 
pointed to the investigation it conducted 
after Keller asked it to revise his credit report.

Keller responded that the report was 
inaccurate because it did not comply with the 
terms of GMAC’s settlement offer. 

SETTLEMENT TERMS

To establish a prima facie FCRA violation, 
the plaintiff had to show the Experian 
report contained inaccurate or misleading 
information, Judge Tuchi said. A credit  
report is inaccurate if it contains data that 
is either patently incorrect or materially 
misleading, he said, citing Gorman v. 
Wolpoff & Abramson LLP, 584 F.3d 1147 (9th 
Cir. 2009).

Keller did not present evidence that the 
mortgage was fully paid off, relying instead 
on statements showing his mortgage  
debt was resolved and that the settlement 
would be considered “full and final 
satisfaction” of his obligations, Judge Tuchi 
noted.

Send a special offer to a loyal customer 
and, by a few thumb-swipes on his phone, 
he can comparison-shop and engage with a 
competitor that offers more attractive terms. 
Loyalty is a behavior, not a frame of mind. 
It’s not true loyalty if a customer leaves in an 
instant when tested.

This is not to say that loyalty isn’t important. 
You obviously want to cultivate customers 
who stay with you for a long time. But 
customers who affirm a commitment to a 
bank by giving it more business are more 
valuable to executives. 

Asking if someone is loyal should be the first 
question before diving into why that customer 

stays and figuring out a plan to extend 
the relationship. Knowing that motivation 
helps you develop plans to go beyond the 
customers you have and gives insight to 
target, attract and win new ones — namely, 
your competitors’ customers who say they’re 
loyal but would jump ship in a second if you 
offered them more attractive terms.

Loyalty is just a single data point and it has, 
over time, lost its usefulness for banking 
executives. Without context and a strategy 
beyond simple customer retention, you are 
putting your future growth at risk.  WJ

But the plaintiff’s settlement document  
with GMAC does not discuss how the debt  
or its satisfaction would be reported, he said. 

“No matter how broad the release provided 
by GMAC, it does not extend to third-party 
reporting on the account,” Judge Tuchi said.

Keller’s settlement with GMAC is only a 
safeguard that neither party will bring 
suit against the other on the basis of the 
closed mortgage account. It covers claims 
and potential liabilities, not historical 
representations of how the debt was settled, 
he said.

To allow the settlement to shield Keller from 
the negative implications and credit history  
of the mortgage “would itself be an 
inaccuracy in the report and would frustrate 
the purpose of the FCRA,” he wrote.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Order: 2017 WL 25289

See Document Section A (P. 17) for the order.
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DEFAULT

Creditor gets another chance to fight debt reporting suit
A New York federal judge has given AT&T a second chance to respond to a man’s lawsuit alleging the company violated 
the Fair Credit Reporting Act by allowing inaccurate information to remain on his credit file.

Cordero v. AT&T, No. 15-cv-5601, 2017 WL 
52591 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 4, 2017).

U.S. District Judge Roslynn R. Mauskopf 
of the Eastern District of New York lifted a 
default ruling against AT&T after finding 
that the company’s failure to respond to the 
lawsuit was not willful. 

Judge Mauskopf also found that AT&T 
had some meritorious defenses to the suit 
filed by Ruisadel Cordero, and she said the  
plaintiff would not be prejudiced if the suit 
proceeded.

IDENTITY THEFT

In April 2013 Cordero purchased a 
smartphone from AT&T, according to the 
judge’s opinion. In December that year he 
allegedly became the victim of identity theft. 
The following month, he received a bill from 
AT&T indicating he owed more than $2,800 
for data usage by telephone numbers he 
claimed did not belong to him.

Cordero contacted AT&T to dispute the bill 
and notified the company about the identity 
theft. AT&T ultimately cancelled his account 
citing the unpaid balance and placed his 
account with a debt collector, the opinion 
said. The company also authorized the  
debt to be reported on his credit report, 
which did not mention that Cordero had 
disputed the debt.

After the debt appeared on his credit file, 
Cordero sued AT&T in September 2015 in 
the District Court. He alleged the company’s 
failure to reasonably investigate his claims 
and remove inaccurate information from 
his credit report violated the Fair Credit 
Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1681.

the other party would suffer were the default 
lifted, the opinion explains.

Willfulness connotes bad faith or a default 
arising from egregious or deliberate acts, 
Judge Mauskopf said. AT&T, however, 
demonstrated that its default was not willful 
by explaining that Cordero’s complaint made 
its way to the corporate legal department, 
where an employee had forgotten to send 
the suit to outside counsel. 

Turning to the next factor, Judge Mauskopf 
said a defense ultimately need not be 
persuasive in order to be considered 
meritorious in the early stages of a case.  
A meritorious defense exists if, based on the 
defendant’s version of events, the court will 
have a determination to make, the judge 
said.

AT&T said Cordero served the complaint 
on an individual who was not authorized 
to accept service, and he served the suit on 
the wrong corporate entity, the opinion said. 
The company added that Cordero’s wireless 
contract was with Cingular Wireless PCS 
LLC, doing business as AT&T Mobility, and no 
entity named “AT&T” exists. 

According to Judge Mauskopf, AT&T’s 
defenses are meritorious because service 
must be procedurally proper for the court to 
have jurisdiction over a defendant.

Lastly, she said Cordero would not suffer 
prejudice if the default were lifted as the case 
was in its early stages.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Order: 2017 WL 52591

See Document Section B (P. 21) for the order.

REUTERS/Rick Wilking

The FCRA requires credit reporting agencies 
and the businesses that provide them 
with consumer debt information to take 
reasonable steps to ensure the data is 
accurate.

Cordero served the complaint on an 
individual at an AT&T facility in Paramus, 
New Jersey, on Oct. 5, 2015, but the company 
did not file a response to the suit. Cordero 
obtained an entry of default against the 
company Dec. 4, 2015.

AT&T filed an appearance in the case  
Feb. 26, 2016, asking the court to vacate the 
default entry.

GOOD CAUSE

When a plaintiff obtains a default entry, 
he then can take the next step and seek a 
default judgment, according to the opinion.  
A defendant, however, can act before a 
default judgment is entered and seek to set 
aside the default entry for good cause.

Since default is considered an “extreme 
measure,” when determining whether good 
cause exists, courts evaluate whether the 
default was willful, whether the defendant 
has a meritorious defense and any prejudice 



6  |  WESTLAW JOURNAL  n  BANK & LENDER LIABILITY © 2017 Thomson Reuters

FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

Collection letter for time-barred debt did not mislead debtor, 
judge rules
By Stephanie Backes 

A debt collection company’s letter was not deceptive for failing to warn a consumer that a payment made after the 
statute of limitations expired could effectively revive the debt, a federal judge has decided.

Boedicker v. Midland Credit Management Inc., No. 16-cv-2213,  
2016 WL 7492465 (D. Kan. Dec. 30, 2016).

U.S. District Judge J. Thomas Marten of the District of Kansas granted 
Midland Credit Management Inc.’s summary judgment motion, 
rejecting plaintiff Doug Boedicker’s claim that the collection letter 
violated the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C.A. § 1692.

The suit claimed the collection letter was deceptive on its face and 
included confusing language that could easily mislead a consumer. 
It also alleged Midland Credit should have provided additional 
information on the legal effect of making payments on the debt.

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Boedicker entered into an agreement with wireless network 
operator T-Mobile on Nov. 10, 2004. He made his last payment to 
the telecommunications company March 29, 2012. Midland Credit 
purchased the remaining debt April 23, 2013.

The statute of limitations for filing a lawsuit to collect on the debt 
began running March 29, 2012, and expired in 2015.

Midland Credit sent a debt-collection later dated Dec. 31, 2015, to 
Boedicker offering payment options and saying “we are not obligated 
to renew this offer,” according to the opinion.

The letter informed the plaintiff that the law “limits how long you can 
be sued on a debt” and that because of the age of his debt, Midland 
Credit would not sue him for it, the opinion said.

Midland Credit did not threaten to sue Boedicker or use the term 
“settle” or “settlement,” the opinion said.

The letter also did not mention that under Kansas law, Kan. Stat. 
Ann. § 60-520, the time-barred debt could be revived if he made any 
payments on it after the limitations period ended.

LETTER NOT DECEPTIVE

Judge Marten ruled the collection letter’s language satisfied the 
FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.A. §  1692e(2)(a), which prohibits the use of “any  
false, deceptive or misleading representations or means in connection 
with the collection of any debt.” 

The judge rejected the plaintiff’s claim that the letter was deceptive. 
Midland Credit did not threaten suit and the letter “expressly noted  
the existence of the statute of limitations,” he said.

Midland Credit’s letter to Boedicker was similar to collections letters 
that other courts have ruled are not deceptive under the FDCPA,  
the judge noted.

The debt collector followed Federal Trade Commission and the 
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau guidelines for debt collectors 
on handling time-barred debts, the opinion said.

Both the FTC and CFPB have declined to require debt collectors to warn 
consumers about the dangers of reviving a time-barred debt because 
of the danger of creating consumer confusion, Judge Marten noted.

Midland Credit’s decision not to include such a warning was therefore 
not actionable, he said.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Opinion: 2016 WL 7492465

See Document Section C (P. 25) for the opinion.
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JURISDICTION

Foreclosing banks can litigate homeowner’s state law claims  
in federal court, judge says
A man’s suit against several banks claiming they wrongfully attempted to foreclose on his Las Vegas home can stay  
in federal court even though his sole federal claim was dismissed, a Nevada federal judge has ruled.

Van Damme v. JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. 
Inc. et al., No. 15-cv-1951, 2017 WL 58570 
(D. Nev. Jan. 5, 2017).

Although the suit no longer involved a 
question of federal law, Chief U.S. District 
Judge Gloria M. Navarro of the District of 
Nevada said the court still had the power to 
hear Armin Van Damme’s remaining state 
claims because diversity jurisdiction existed 
between him and the defendant financial 
institutions. 

The federal district courts have subject 
matter jurisdiction in two instances: they can 
hear cases presenting questions of federal 
law and those falling within their diversity 
jurisdiction, which exists when no plaintiff  
is a citizen of the same state as a defendant 
and the amount in controversy is over 
$75,000. 

Judge Navarro’s ruling reversed a May 16 
decision remanding Van Damme’s suit to 
Nevada’s 8th Judicial District Court where it 
was originally filed.

REMOVAL AND REMAND

In October 2015 Van Damme brought suit 
against various entities including Wells 
Fargo Bank, U.S. Bank, Bank of America, 
MERSCORP Inc. and BANA Holding Corp. in 
a Nevada state court in an effort to stop them 
from foreclosing on his home.

The complaint alleged the defendants 
violated the federal Truth in Lending Act,  
15 U.S.C.A. §  1601, as well as state law  
claims for quiet title, wrongful foreclosure, 
breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, breach of 
the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and 
breach of contract, the judge’s opinion said.

The defendants removed the case to 
the District Court on federal question 
jurisdiction grounds. Van Damme then 
voluntarily dismissed the TILA claim as well 
as his wrongful-foreclosure and breach-
of-fiduciary-duty claims, according to the 
opinion.

The District Court determined that federal 
question jurisdiction no longer existed  
since the TILA claim had been dismissed, 
declined to hear the remaining state law 
claims and remanded.

RECONSIDERATION SOUGHT

The banks asked the District Court to 
reconsider the remand order and keep the 
suit in the federal court. The companies  
said the court could exercise jurisdiction over 
the suit even though the TILA claim had 
been dismissed because diversity jurisdiction 
existed. 

Van Damme acknowledged the amount 
in controversy exceeded $75,000 and the 
parties were of diverse citizenship in his 

response to the bank’s motion, but argued 
the District Court should not revisit its 
remand order for reasons of judicial economy.

REMAND CANCELED

Although motions for reconsideration are 
generally not granted except in “highly 
unusual circumstances,” Judge Navarro said 
that reconsideration of the remand order was 
“appropriate given the importance of subject 
matter jurisdiction.”

When a case is properly removed to federal 
court, the court can exercise jurisdiction over 
it based on what appears in the complaint 
and not just the grounds raised in the 
removal notice, she said, citing Williams v. 
Costco Wholesale Corp., 471 F.3d 975 (9th Cir. 
2006).

Van Damme’s complaint supports the bank’s 
assertions about diverse citizenship, and 
the parties do not dispute the amount in 
controversy or the fact that diverse citizenship 
exists, the judge noted.

Saying she had no discretion to remand the 
state law claims, Judge Navarro granted 
the defendants’ reconsideration motion and 
reversed the prior remand ruling.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Order: 2017 WL 58570

See Document Section D (P. 30) for the order.
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TRUTH IN LENDING ACT

Mortgage holder must face TILA suit  
over loan transfer notice, judge says
Two homeowners can proceed with their suit alleging the current holder of 
their mortgage violated the federal Truth in Lending Act by failing to properly 
notify them of its acquisition of the loan from the initial lender.

Yuszczak et al. v. DLJ Mortgage Capital Inc. 
et al., No. 16-cv-101, 2017 WL 44504 (D.R.I. 
Jan. 4, 2017).

U.S. District Judge William E. Smith of the 
District of Rhode Island said he could not 
grant summary judgment to DLJ Mortgage 
Capital Inc. because the company did not 
show it sent timely notice of the loan transfer 
to Stephen and Rita Yuszczak.

The judge also said the court would not 
consider DLJ’s additional arguments as to 
why it deserved a favorable ruling because 
the company raised them for the first time 
in a reply brief rather than in the initial 
summary judgment motion.

LOAN TRANSFERRED

The Yuszczaks took out a mortgage on their 
Burrillville, Rhode Island, home from non-
party Seacoast Mortgage Corp. in May 2008. 
Seacoast transferred the loan to DLJ at  
some point between July 2014 and February 
2015, according to the judge’s opinion.

The plaintiffs sued DLJ in the Rhode Island 
Superior Court in February 2016, alleging the 
company violated Section 1641(g)(1) of the 
Truth in Lending Act by failing to properly 
notify them about the loan transfer, the 
ruling said. The complaint was then removed 
to federal court.

Section 1641(g)(1) provides that within 30 
days of the date of a loan sale, transfer or 
assignment the new owner must notify the 
borrower in writing about the transfer and 
include information on the new owner’s 
identity, address, phone number, how to 
contact a company representative, the date 
of the transfer, the place where the debt 
transfer is recorded and any other relevant 
information, the opinion said.

The plaintiffs said the transfer of their 
mortgage occurred on or about Feb. 3, 2015, 

and alleged DLJ did not notify them within 
30 days of this date.

DEFENSE ARGUMENTS

DLJ filed a motion for summary judgment 
on the TILA claim, saying it obtained the 
loan July 28, 2014, and sent the Yuszczaks a 
notice of transfer dated Aug. 29, 2014.

The plaintiffs opposed the motion and 
DLJ filed a reply brief that added two new 
arguments in support of the company’s 
position, according to the opinion.

DLJ said the plaintiffs’ suit was untimely and 
claimed the couple could not bring a TILA 
claim about a 2014 loan transfer because 
they went through bankruptcy in 2010.

FACTUAL ISSUES ABOUT NOTICE

Judge Smith said he agreed with the 
plaintiffs’ argument that DLJ failed to 
show when it sent the transfer notice.  
The company has not demonstrated that  
it sent the document within 30 days as 
required by the TILA, he said.

Although the transfer notice was dated  
Aug. 29, 2014, the date on the document 
cannot be considered the same as the 
mailing date, the judge said.

The company has not offered evidence of 
the mailing date and issues of fact still 
exist regarding the timeliness of the notice, 
Judge Smith said, denying DLJ’s summary 
judgment motion.

He also said he would not review the new 
arguments the company raised in its reply 
brief. Arguments, regardless of merit, that 
are raised for the first time in a reply brief are 
procedurally barred, he explained.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Opinion: 2017 WL 44504

See Document Section E (P. 33) for the opinion.
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MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

New York appeals court upholds  
MBS ‘put-back’ action
By Peter H. Hamner, Esq.

Defunct mortgage originator GreenPoint Mortgage Funding Inc. recently lost 
its latest attempt to escape a New York lawsuit alleging it failed to repurchase 
defective loans underlying mortgage-backed securities.

party discovered a breach or provided notice 
of a breach, the order said. 

JPMorgan subsequently pooled the loans 
into mortgage-backed securities and 
entered into a reconstitution agreement 
with GreenPoint on May 31, 2007. The 
agreement reiterated the terms of the sale 
agreement and assigned U.S. Bank the right 
to hold GreenPoint liable for any contractual 
breaches, the order said.

U.S. Bank, as trustee for the securities, 
reviewed a sample of the loans and 
determined that 40 percent were defective, 
the order said.

TRIAL COURT DECISION

U.S. Bank sued GreenPoint for breach 
of contract May 31, 2013, demanding it 
repurchase the disputed loans. 

GreenPoint moved to dismiss, arguing the 
suit was untimely under New York’s six-year 
limitations period for breach-of-contract 
claims. 

The company also said U.S. Bank failed to 
demand that GreenPoint repurchase the 
defective loans before it filed suit, as required 
by the agreements.

Justice Friedman rejected the statute-of-
limitations argument, saying the suit was 
filed six years to the day of the execution of 
the reconstitution agreement. 

She also ruled that U.S. Bank could  
pursue breach-of-contract claims based 
on defective loans that GreenPoint had 
discovered on its own before the suit was 
filed. U.S. Bank v. GreenPoint Mortg. Funding 
Inc., No. 651954/2013, 2015 WL 915444 
(N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty. Mar. 3, 2015).

“While plaintiff will have the ultimate 
burden of proving whether and to what 
extent defendant discovered the breaches, 
at the pleading stage plaintiff sufficiently 

alleges defendant’s discovery based on its 
involvement as an originator and its due 
diligence,” the order said.

However, Justice Friedman dismissed 
U.S. Bank’s breach-of-contract claims to 
the extent they applied to defective loans 
GreenPoint had not discovered before U.S. 
Bank filed its suit. 

APPELLATE COURT RULING

GreenPoint and U.S. Bank both appealed the 
decision. The 4-1 Appellate Division majority 
declined to overturn Justice Friedman’s 
ruling. 

The majority determined that U.S. Bank, 
before filing its lawsuit, did not have to send 
GreenPoint breach notices for mortgages the 
company knew or should have known were 
nonconforming. 

“The terms of the repurchase protocol 
provide that the cure period is triggered 
upon ‘discovery by or notice to [GreenPoint],’” 
the opinion said. “Thus, this action, to  
the extent it alleges that GreenPoint’s 
obligation to cure was triggered by its own 
discovery of nonconforming mortgages … 
may proceed regardless of the validity of the 
late breach notices.”

However, the panel said U.S. Bank could 
not pursue claims based on nonconforming 
loans that GreenPoint was not aware of.

“No such precommencement breach 
notice was ever sent to GreenPoint, so its  
obligation to cure (repurchase) or otherwise 
respond was not triggered; the breach 
notices were only sent after the action was 
commenced,” the opinion said.

THE DISSENT

Justice Rolando T. Acosta dissented in part. 
He disagreed with the majority’s refusal to 
reinstate U.S. Bank’s dismissed claims even 
though the bank filed the suit in a timely 
manner and filed a timely summons with 
notice. 

Justice Acosta wrote that the dismissed 
claims should relate back, or be connected 
to, U.S. Bank’s summons with notice.  WJ

Related Filing: 
Opinion: 2016 WL 7470015

See Document Section F (P. 35) for the opinion.

U.S. Bank v. GreenPoint Mortgage Funding 
Inc., No. 1493, 2016 WL 7470015 (N.Y. App. 
Div., 1st Dep’t Dec. 29, 2016).

A 4-1 panel of the New York Supreme Court 
Appellate Division, 1st Department, ruled 
that U.S. Bank may continue to pursue its 
breach-of-contract case against GreenPoint 
even though it failed to notify GreenPoint  
of its alleged breaches before filing the suit. 

The appellate court upheld a March 2015 
ruling from New York County Supreme Court 
Justice Marcy Friedman, who declined to  
toss the case but did dismiss some of U.S. 
Bank’s breach-of-contract claims.

Justice Friedman ruled that U.S. Bank could 
continue to pursue breach-of-contract  
claims that alleged GreenPoint breached its 
duty to repurchase certain mortgage loans it 
knew were defective. 

However, she tossed breach-of contract 
claims alleging that GreenPoint received 
notices about the faulty loans and failed to 
remedy the problem. The justice found that 
GreenPoint did not have proper time to 
address the issue because U.S. Bank sent the 
breach notices after filing suit. 

GreenPoint, which closed in 2007, was a 
subsidiary of Capital One Financial Corp.

THE MORTGAGE-BACKED 
SECURITIES

GreenPoint sold 418 mortgage loans to 
JPMorgan Mortgage Acquisition Corp. 
in August 2005, according to Justice 
Friedman’s order.

Under the companies’ mortgage loan sale 
agreement, GreenPoint represented that  
the loans met certain characteristics,  
related to loan-to-value ratios and owner-
occupancy rates, among other things. 
GreenPoint also agreed to repurchase any 
defective loans within 60 days after either 
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MORTGAGE-BACKED SECURITIES

Insurer can continue fraud claim against bank  
over faulty mortgage-backed securities
By Peter H. Hamner, Esq.

A New York judge has determined that Ambac Assurance Corp. can proceed with its claim that Nomura Credit &  
Capital Inc. fraudulently induced it into insuring two mortgage-backed securities offerings.

policies that the underlying loans met certain 
characteristics and underwriting guidelines, 
the complaint alleges.

Ambac says the loans defaulted en masses 
during the financial crisis, causing it to 
receive claims for payments exceeding  
$178 million as of February 2013.

Ambac initially sued Nomura in April 2013, 
alleging only breach of contract.

BREACH-OF-CONTRACT CLAIMS
The bank moved to dismiss the suit but Justice 
Friedman denied the motion as to breach-
of-contract claims that alleged Nomura 
breached its promises that the underlying 
mortgages were not risky. Ambac Assurance 
Corp. et al. v. Nomura Credit & Capital Inc.  
et al., No. 651359/2013, 2015 WL 3490753 
(N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty. June 2, 2015).

She did, however, toss Ambac’s claims 
relating to breaches of its repurchase 
obligation, and its demand for rescissory 
damages and reimbursement of attorney 
fees and costs.

Ambac Assurance Corp. et al. v. Nomura  
Credit & Capital Inc. et al., No. 651359/2013, 
2016 WL 7475831 (N.Y. Sup. Ct., N.Y. Cty. 
Dec. 29, 2016).

New York County Supreme Court Justice 
Marcy Friedman declined to dismiss the 
fraud claim, saying Ambac’s complaint 
adequately alleged that Nomura knowingly 
misrepresented the riskiness of the  
offerings’ underlying mortgages to the 
financial insurer.

THE SECURITIES

According to Ambac’s complaint, Nomura 
pooled together about 3,500 mortgage 
loans for two mortgage-backed securities 
transactions worth nearly $1.16 billion it 
offered to investors in 2007.

In order to enhance the credit value of the 
securities, Nomura asked Ambac to insure 
the securities, the suit says.

The insurer agreed, based on the mortgage 
company’s assurances in the insurance 

FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT CLAIM

Following the decision, Ambac amended the 
complaint to assert fraudulent inducement 
against Nomura.

Nomura moved to dismiss the new claim, 
arguing that it is duplicative of the breach-of-
contract claim and that it fails to plead fraud.

Justice Friedman denied the motion, 
first holding that the allegation is not 
duplicative because it relates to Nomura’s 
misrepresentations of present facts used to 
induce Ambac to insure the offerings and 
is not subsumed by the breach-of-contract 
claim.

She then decided that the complaint  
adequately alleged fraudulent inducement, 
finding that Ambac sufficiently claimed 
Nomura knew the loans underlying the 
securities offerings were faulty and that the 
insurer relied on Nomura’s misrepresentations.  
WJ

Related Filing: 
Order: 2016 WL 7475831

See Document Section G (P. 42) for the order.
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PRE-SUIT DEMAND

Judge used wrong standard to dismiss suit  
over BNY Mellon practices, appeal says
A Bank of New York Mellon investor has asked Delaware’s highest court to reinstate his claims that the bank’s  
directors acted in bad faith because they refused to take appropriate action regarding its allegedly fraudulent foreign 
exchange practices.

Chancery Court. The defendants moved to 
dismiss on grounds that they had properly 
refused the presuit demand. 

Vice Chancellor Glasscock dismissed the  
suit, finding the key issue is whether the 
board’s action in rejecting the demand — and 
not the underlying alleged wrongdoing — 
was “taken in good faith and absent gross 
negligence.”

Zucker did not say why the board’s special 
committee erred in rejecting the suit, the  
vice chancellor said.  WJ

Attorneys:
Plaintiff: Robert D. Goldberg, Biggs & Battaglia, 
Wilmington, DE

Defendants: Kurt F. Gwynne, Brian M. Rostocki and 
John C. Cordrey, Reed Smith LLP, Wilmington, 
DE; Stephen P. Lamb and Meghan M. Dougherty, 
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison, 
Wilmington, DE

Zucker v. Hassell et al., No. 606, 2016, 
notice of appeal filed (Del. Dec. 29, 2016).

Shareholder Murray Zucker’s appeal asks 
the Delaware Supreme Court to overturn 
Vice Chancellor Sam Glasscock’s ruling  
that a committee of directors did not  
exhibit bad faith or gross negligence in 
investigating allegations that the bank 
misled customers about the way it calculated 
the daily exchange rate. Zucker v. Hassell 
et al., No. 11625, 2016 WL 7011351 (Del. Ch. 
Nov. 30, 2016).

The vice chancellor dismissed Zucker’s 
Chancery Court breach-of-duty charges 
after finding that he failed to clear a key 
procedural “pre-suit demand” hurdle that 
requires derivative plaintiffs to submit 
their allegations to the directors to decide  
whether they have merit and should be 
pursued by the company.

Zucker made that demand and it was 
rejected, forcing him to prove that the 
board’s decision was made in bad faith or 
constituted gross negligence — a so-called 
“demand refused” situation that presented 
a “steep road” he could not surmount, the  
vice chancellor said.

NO OTHER EXPLANATION?

Zucker argued unsuccessfully that gross 
negligence is the only way to explain the 
directors’ alleged disregard for various flaws 
in the investigation and their conclusions. 
Now he has filed a notice of appeal, but 
the justices have seldom reversed Chancery 
Court decisions regarding “demand-refused” 
cases like this one.  

According to the Chancery Court opinion, 
as early as 2011, employee whistleblowers 
revealed the bank’s practice of offering  
highly unfavorable currency exchange rates 

to customers, even though it said its rates 
were among the best available. 

Zucker claimed the bank would charge its 
clients “at or near” the least favorable daily 
rates and pocket the difference between 
those and higher exchange rates.

Whistleblower lawsuits, fines and payments 
from regulatory actions have already cost 
BNY Mellon $1 billion. In March 2011 Zucker 
demanded the board bring suit against 
certain officers and directors for breaching 
their fiduciary duty to run the company 
lawfully, the opinion said.

After an internal investigation by a special 
directors’ committee, the board refused 
Zucker’s demand to bring suit, finding there 
was no basis for the charges and that litigation 
would not be in the bank’s best interests.

After obtaining additional information 
through a books-and-records action, Zucker 
filed this derivative suit Oct. 20, 2015, in the 

 REUTERS/Sebastien Pirlet
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SECURITIES FRAUD

PayPal’s Venmo app privacy issues prompt shareholder suit
By Eileen M. Potash

PayPal Inc. and former parent company eBay Inc. are facing claims in San Francisco federal court that they violated 
federal securities laws by misleading investors about the adequacy of privacy measures taken by Venmo, PayPal’s  
electronic money transfer application.

REUTERS/Chris Helgren

Cho v. PayPal Holdings Inc. et al., No. 16-cv-7371, complaint filed 
(N.D. Cal. Dec. 28, 2016).

Shareholder Sheck Kwai Cho filed the suit Dec. 28 in the U.S. District 
Court for the Northern District of California nearly seven months after 
PayPal settled a deceptive-trade-practices suit with the Texas attorney 
general. In that action, the state said its investigation revealed several 
safety and security issues with the Venmo application.

PayPal’s stock price dropped in the spring of 2016 when the company 
revealed that the Federal Trade Commission had served it with a 
civil investigation demand regarding Venmo’s consumer disclosures, 
according to the suit.

Cho’s proposed class-action complaint seeks unspecified damages on 
behalf of investors who acquired PayPal securities during a roughly 
nine-month period ending April 28, the date of the disclosure.

Those who acquired eBay securities on or after Dec. 19, 2013, and 
subsequently received PayPal securities pursuant to the company’s 
spin-off are also part of the proposed class.

CLASS PERIOD REPRESENTATIONS

PayPal, a San Jose, California-based company founded in 1998, offers 
a technology platform that enables digital and mobile payments 
on behalf of merchants and consumers worldwide, according to its 
website.

When PayPal acquired payment service provider Braintree in 2013, it 
also took over mobile payment service Venmo, the complaint says.

Parent company eBay spun off PayPal into a stand-alone, publicly 
traded company in July 2015.

In connection with the spinoff, each holder of eBay common stock 
received one share of PayPal common stock for every one share of eBay 
common stock held, the complaint says.

During the proposed class period, the defendants misled investors by 
concealing that Venmo was engaged in unfair trade practices, thereby 
causing PayPal stock to trade at artificially inflated prices, according 
to the suit.

TRUTH REVEALED

Investors learned the truth April 28, when PayPal disclosed in a 
quarterly report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
that a month earlier it had received a civil investigative demand from 
the FTC regarding Venmo, the suit claims.

Federal regulators investigated Venmo’s free peer-to-peer payment 
service for possible unfair trade practices, according to the securities 
filing.

On news of a potential enforcement action, PayPal’s share price fell 
over 2 percent to close at $39.18 on April 29, according to the plaintiff, 
who says investors suffered losses as a result.

TEXAS SETTLEMENT

A month later, Texas Attorney General Ken Paxton reported a 
settlement with PayPal regarding the state’s investigation of Venmo.

In announcing the settlement, Paxton said his office’s consumer 
protection division found Venmo had used consumer phone contact 
information “without clearly disclosing how the contacts would be 
used.”

Moreover, Venmo did not clearly disclose how consumers’ transactions 
and interactions with other users would be shared and misrepresented 
that communications from the application were actually from 
particular users, Paxton said.

As a result, consumers may have inadvertently exposed private 
information about their payments, according to Paxton.

PayPal agreed to improve Venmo’s privacy and security disclosures, to 
better inform users of the safeguards available on its app and to pay 
the state of Texas $175,000, which sum includes $40,000 in attorney 
fees.

The suit says shareholders were harmed as a result of the defendants’ 
allegedly misleading statements and asserts violations of  
Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,  
15 U.S.C.A. §§78j(b) and 78t(a), and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  
WJ

Related Filing: 
Complaint: 2016 WL 7514332
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REGULATORY AFFAIRS

Banks’ derivatives revenue for 3rd quarter bests 2015’s mark
By Peter H. Hamner, Esq.

U.S. commercial banks and savings associations recorded $6.4 billion in derivatives trading revenue for last year’s third 
quarter, an increase of about 20 percent from the same quarter in 2015, according to a recent report by the Office of the 
Comptroller of the Currency.

A derivative is a financial contract whose 
value is tied to the performance of underlying 
assets, interest rates, currency exchange 
rates or indexes.

While 2016 third quarter revenue dipped by 
about 9 percent from the $7 billion recorded 
in the second quarter, the amounts are the 
highest recorded in those quarters since 
2000, the report said.

The drop from the second quarter total is 
attributable to lower revenue from interest-
rate and foreign exchange products, the OCC 
said. Interest-rate products accounted for 
three-quarters of the trading revenue, it said.

According to the OCC, the banks’ “net 
current credit exposure” — the primary 
metric the agency uses to measure credit risk 
in derivatives activities — fell by $24 billion, or 
about 4.7 percent, to $481.7 billion.

The face value, also called the “notional 
amount,” of derivative securities decreased 

$12.4 trillion, or 6.5 percent, from the second 
quarter to about $177.5 trillion.

A derivative’s face value is a reference figure 
used to calculate parties’ periodic payment 
obligations based on changing market 
conditions. The notional amount generally 
does not change hands.

The decrease in face value is mostly the 
result of trade compression, a process that 
combines derivative contracts with similar 
attributes, the agency said.

REUTERS/Rick Wilking

The OCC report also said trading risk, 
measured by average value-at-risk, for the 
top five banks in the third quarter dropped 
an average of $21 million, or 7.1 percent, to 
$274 million. 

Derivatives contracts are concentrated in a 
small number of institutions, the OCC said, 
noting that the top four banks — Bank of 
America Corp., Citibank, Goldman Sachs 
Group Inc. and JPMorgan Chase & Co. — 
accounted for almost 90 percent of the total 
notional amount of derivatives in the third 
quarter.

The report reflects the combined derivatives 
revenue of 1,438 insured U.S. commercial 
banks and savings associations, four fewer 
than were included in the previous quarter’s 
report. 

The report is available at http://bit.ly/2dtcLlf.  
WJ
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